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MATANUSKA-SUSITNA BOROUGH SCHOOL DISTRICT 
PURCHASING DEPARTMENT 
690 COPE INDUSTRIAL WAY 

PALMER, AK  99645 
 

CUSTODIAL SERVICES 
FOR THE MATANUSKA-SUSITNA BOROUGH SCHOOL DISTRICT 

RFP #B17-15 
 

ADDENDUM #1 
 
Information in this addendum takes precedence over original information. All other 
provisions of the document remain unchanged. 
 
Note to Bidders: Bidders are required to acknowledge all addenda on Appendix 1. 
 
The following additions, corrections and changes are hereby made to the above-referenced 
Request for Proposal. 
 
QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS: 
 
1. Q: Is the contractor responsible for cleaning and/or disposal of bio-hazards (Human 

feces, body fluids, etc.)? 
  
 A: The contractor is responsible for the safe and proper cleaning of bio-hazards. The 

District currently contracts for the disposal of bio-hazards and that responsibility 
would reside with the District.  

 
2. Q: Who owns the current chemical inventory in the warehouse?  Will the contractor 

be required to buy it or does it get dispersed to the schools and buildings? 
 

A: MSBSD owns the current chemical inventory in the warehouse. The contractor will 
not be required to buy the chemical inventory. 

 
3. Q: The district currently provides ice cleats to its employees. Does the district also 

intend to provide ice cleats to contractor staff? 
 
 A: No, the MSBSD does not intend to provide ice cleats to contractor’s employees. 
 
4. Q: Snow Removal – Can the contractor use the Maintenance Departments’ tractors, 

blowers, and equipment for clearing of the sidewalks? 
 
 A: Yes, the MSBSD’s outdoor snow removal equipment will be made available for the 

contractor’s use. 
 
5. Q: Is the MSBSD priority snow removal or custodial services for days when the snow 

fall is greater than two inches? 
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 A: It should be the day custodian’s priority to remove all snow from entryways, 
sidewalks, pathways, exterior doors, egress routes, loading docks, etc. at any level. 

 
6. Q: Is snow removal a service that can be subcontracted? 
 

A: Per section 3.6 of Attachment A, the MSBSD separately contracts for snow 
removal from parking lots. The district will not allow the custodial services contractor 
to subcontract the removal of snow from entryways, sidewalks, pathways, and 
exterior doors and egress routes. 

 
7. Q: What height of the windows, both inside and outside, is the contractor responsible 

for cleaning? Is the cleaning of windows above 12 feet included in the scope? 
 
 A: The contractor will be expected to clean all windows, inside and outside, up to a 

height of twelve (12) feet. 
 
8. Q: Is the MSBSD responsible for contracting for cleaning of all the interior and 

exterior windows? 
 
 A: The custodial services contractor is responsible for the cleaning of all windows, 

inside and out, up to a height of twelve (12) feet. 
 
9. Q: Are MSBSD vehicles available for use by contractor’s supervisor for moving of 

equipment, supplies, personnel, etc.? Will MSBSD provide the vehicles that will be 
needed? If so, how many and what type? 
 
A: The MSBSD will not be providing any vehicles for contractor use. 

 
10. Q: Transfer out of the warehouse – are they delivered by MSBSD? 
 

A: Consumable restroom supplies provided by the MSBSD will also be delivered to 
the sites by the MSBSD. 

 
11. Q: During the bid meeting, it was disclosed that the Custodial Supervisors’ positions 

would be kept as MSBSD staff.  Please confirm and explain their role. 
 
 A: Per section 9 of Attachment A, the MSBSD and the contractor will each designate 

a contract administrator. MSBSD at its discretion may or may not assign additional 
personnel to act as contract administrator support. Determination of personnel and 
roles remains undetermined. 

 
12. Q: How are the custodial regions currently divided? 
 
 A: The current maintenance and custodial regions are divided as follows: 

East Region: Administration, Butte Elementary, Finger Lake Elementary, 
Glacier View School, Machetanz Elementary, Mat-Su Day School, Palmer High 
School, Palmer Junior Middle School, Pioneer Peak Elementary, Sherrod 
Elementary, Sutton Elementary, Swanson Elementary, Valley Pathways High 
School, and Warehouse/Nutrition Services. 
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Central Region: Mat-Su Career & Technical High School, Colony High School, 
Colony Middle School, Cottonwood Elementary, Dena’ina Elementary, Goose 
Bay Elementary, Knik Elementary, Larson Elementary, Mat-Su Central School, 
Redington Junior/Senior High School, Shaw Elementary, Snowshoe 
Elementary, Teeland Middle School, and Facilities. 
 
West Region: Beryozova School, Big Lake Elementary, Burchell High School. 
Houston High School, Houston Middle School, Iditarod Elementary, Meadow 
Lakes Elementary, Su-Valley Junior/Senior High School, Talkeetna 
Elementary, Tanaina Elementary, Trapper Creek Elementary, Wasilla High 
School, Wasilla Middle School, and Willow Elementary. 

 
13. Q: Is there a bid bond or proposal bond form? 
 

A: Per section 6.1.1 of Attachment A, the proposal bond shall be in one of the forms 
listed. There is no separate form to fill out. 

 
14. Q: Will MSBSD provide office space for management and supervisors?  

 
A: No office space will be provided. 

 
15. Q: Will MSBSD provide computers, internet connectivity, and phones for the 

management staff and supervisors of the contractor? 
 

A: No computers or phones will be provided. MSBSD has guest Wi-Fi access at all of 
our sites. 

 
16. Q: Will MSBSD provide Warehouse space for custodial products/supplies? 
 
 A: No warehouse space will be provided for the contractor’s products/supplies. 
 
17. Q: Is there any available space to park some larger pieces of equipment in a secure 

area? 
 
 A: No space will be provided to park larger pieces of equipment outside.  
 
18. Q: If we have identified a need for additional equipment and we purchase it (if 

awarded) would we have to sell it back to the district for $1? 
 

A: The contractor would not be required to sell additional equipment (purchased by 
the contractor) to the MSBSD at the end of the contract. Contractor would need to 
provide proper documentation including receipts showing their purchase of that 
equipment. 

 
19. Q: Can we get the floor specs for the floors that use Prominence? 
 
 A: Please see the attached Appendix 16, Mondo Advance Maintenance Guidelines.  
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20. Q: Is the contractor required to clean refrigerators and microwaves? 
 

A: Contractor will be responsible for cleaning any contractor-provided refrigerators or 
microwaves in the custodial offices at the individual sites. Contractor will also be 
responsible for cleaning microwaves in cafeterias that are for student use. Contractor 
will not be responsible for cleaning inside refrigerators and microwaves in classrooms 
or staff lounges, but will be responsible for wiping down the outside of such 
equipment in a similar manner to counters and cabinets. 

 
21. Q: What do playground inspections entail? Are you looking for a certified playground 

inspector to inspect or someone just looking for overall functionality and blatant 
safety hazards? 

 
A: Please see the attached Appendix 16, Routine Playground Inspection Form. The 
person inspecting the equipment should fill out and submit the form to their 
supervisor but does not need to be a certified playground inspector. 

 
22. Q: According to RFP, the district provides the paper, soap, trash bags, hand towel, 

sanitary napkins. However, would the district be interested in seeing our price for 
these? There could be a savings to the district. We would need to know volume and 
type of expendables to conduct an analysis. 

 
A: The MSBSD bids and contracts separately for these items. The items listed are 
excluded from the scope of the RFP and the district will not consider pricing for these 
items at this time. (Please note: The district does not provide sanitary napkins as a 
matter of course, only the sanitary napkin receptacle liners. The contractor would not 
be required to provide sanitary napkins either.) 

 
23. Q: Is the vendor or district responsible for taking the recycling materials to the 

recycling station? 
 

A: Per Section 3.3 of Attachment A, “The MSBSD will assume responsibility to 
remove and pay for removal of all refuse from its on-site collection containers. The 
contractor will be responsible for placing refuse into the proper collection containers. 
At sites where a recycling program is already in place, contractor shall also be 
responsible for placing recyclable material into the proper collection containers.” This 
does not include taking the recycling off site. 
 
However, in the Additive Alternate, per Section 5.2 of Attachment A, “The MSBSD 
desires to evaluate implementation of a district-wide recycling program. Please 
prepare a program proposal and identify the cost impact on Attachment C, Cost 
Proposal, for providing recycling services. Recycling services shall include providing 
receptacles and collection stations for cardboard and mixed paper material only, all 
handling of cardboard and mixed paper, and all delivery of cardboard and mixed 
paper recyclables (including haul back of containers) to the recycling center by the 
contractor.” The additive alternate requires that the contractor be responsible for 
taking recycling materials off site to a recycling center. 
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24. Q: Also would the district like multiple pricing structures to show the cost of retaining 
all employees at current pay and benefits?  If so we would need data (current pay 
and benefits) to complete the analysis. 

 
A: The MSBSD desires a single, best and final cost proposal, submitted on the form 
found in Attachment C.  

 
25. Q: When adding the FTEs up on Appendix 7 its show the district currently has 118.85 

FTE’s, is that correct? 
 

A: Totaling the FTEs shown on Appendix 7 does not necessarily reflect the number of 
individuals working for the MSBSD in this capacity. In some instances, employees 
are working less than 1.0 FTE. The FTEs are shown to give an idea of current staffing 
levels at each site. The contractor is not required to employ that exact number as 
long as the staffing hours and appearance levels are met. 

 
26. Q: How many substitute custodians does the district currently have? 
 
 A: The MSBSD currently maintains a pool of approximately fifty (50) substitutes. 
 
27. Q: Do the charter schools need a day time position? How are they currently cleaned? 
 

A: Most (but not all) of the charter schools are currently staffed by MSBSD 
employees. For the purposes of providing a proposal for the additive alternate for 
charter schools, the contractor should assume that each school will need to be 
staffed according to the hours listed in Appendix 7. These schools may or may not be 
added to the final contract, based on the needs of the individual schools. 

 
28. Q: The three high schools that have to be staffed 24 hours a day. How are they 

currently staffed for 24 hrs. (how many FTEs)? What is the normal scope of work for 
a 24-hour period? 

 
 A: Per Appendix 7, there are five high schools that must be staffed 24 hours per day. 

Those sites are currently staffed with an average of seven (7) FTE. The scope of 
work for these facilities is outlined in Appendix 8, Baseline Cleaning Specifications. 

 
29. Q: For staffing requirements, the district asks for someone to be present on 

weekends (sat and sun) and during summer weekends. What is the current level of 
staffing (FTEs) that the district provides per site for this? Is this the intent of the 
additional 3,500 hours? Or do we need to price in a FTE at each location plus the 
additional 3,500 hours.  We are looking for clarification so we don’t over price the 
service. 

 
A: MSBSD is not requesting staffing coverage for summer weekends. The hours 
listed in Appendix 7 for summer are for weekdays only. Weekend and summer hours 
are intended to be covered by normal staffing, not by the additional 3,500 hours 
designated for Facility Use. The Facility Use allowance is only for cleaning due to 
facility use outside of normal school activities.  

 



RFP #B17-15, Custodial Services for the MSBSD  Page 6 of 6 
Addendum #1 Clarifications 

30. Q: What changes were made to this RFP from the previous RFP issued back in 2006? 
 

A: Major changes include but are not limited to: exclusion from this RFP of light-duty 
maintenance responsibilities, inclusion in this RFP of summer work, inclusion of 
liquidated damages, specified performance standards, change in party responsible 
for providing consumable restroom supplies, and a facility use hours allowance. 

 
31. Q: Has the district had an independent APPA Level audit completed? If so what were 

the results? 
 
 A: The MSBSD has not had an independent APPA Level audit completed. 
 
32. Q: The contactor should make reasonable effort to fill positions with MSBSD 

employees who are displaced. Can we get the current hourly rates for of all custodial 
staff and supervisors? 

 
 A: Below is the current custodial salary schedule and the Full Time Equivalents at 

each salary step. 
 

 
 
33. Q: Can you please give us an average wage for your current staff? 
 
 A: The average hourly rate of current custodians is $16.46. 
 
34. Q: What is the turnover ratio with regards to the current staff? 
 
 A: We have hired approximately 29 new custodians for FY 2017, making the turnover 

rate 24%. 
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Routine Playground Inspection Form 

Operations & Maintenance 
Mat-Su Borough School District 
3901 E. Bogard Rd. 
Wasilla, AK 99654 
P: (907) 864-2000 || F: (907) 864-2080

Location:

Work Orders:

Comments:

Special Instructions: Use this form when conducting routine playground inspections and when conducting repairs. 
Submit to O&M when complete.

Start/Finish Times:Date:Inspector Name:

Repairer Name: Start/Finish Times:Date:

Logs: Cracking / Warping / Decay
End-Caps: Exposed Tubing
Bolts: Uncapped / Loose / Missing
Bedway: Damage / Protruding Objects
Paint: Chipping / Rust
Support Posts: Loose / Exposed Footings
Tire: Damage / Mounting
Boards: Cracking / Warping / Decay / Paint
Fittings: Need Grease
Handrails: Loose / Missing
Steps: Loose / Surface
Footings: Loose / Exposed / Cracked
Welds: Damage / Decay
Bars & Pipes: Loose / Missing
S-Hooks: Need Replacement / 25% Wear
Support Rods: Loose / Need Replacement
Foot Holds: Loose / Need Replacement
Chains: Damage / Rust / Pinch Points
Seats: Damage / Need Replacement
Mountings: Loose / Need Replacement
Wood Slats: Cracking / Warping / Decay
Ladders: Support / Rungs
Ropes: Damage / Need Replacement
Turnbolts & Turnbuckles: Loose / Replace
Cables: Support / Damage / Need Replacement
Springs: Support / Damage / Need Replacement
Hand Grips: Loose / Need Replacement
Poles: Support / Damage / Need Replacement
Hand Holds: Loose / Missing / Need Replacement
Bearings: Grease / Replace
Panels: Loose / Damage / Need Replacement
Ground Surfacing:
Other:

Use the Following Codes: 

1 = Okay / Good Condition 
2 = Fair Condition / Operational 
3 = Do Not Use / Needs Immediate Attention 
O = Requested O&M Repair 
X = Work Order Created 
Z = Corrective Action Complete

Equipment List (i.e., Slide, Tire Swing, 4-Bay Swing)

OPM01 REV: 06/03/2016RFP #B17-15, Custodial Services for the MSBSD 
Addendum #1, Appendix 16, Routine Playground Maintenance Form Page 1 of 1
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